S260209

No.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

MICHAEL GOMEZ DALY and INLAND EMPIRE UNITED

Petitioners (in superior court) and Respondents (on appeal),

v.

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY, et al.

Respondents and Real Party in Interest (in superior court) and Appellants,

After Order by the Court of Appeal Fourth Appellate District, Division Two Civil No. E073730

On Appeal From the Superior Court for the State of California, County of San Bernardino, Case No. CIVDS1833846, Hon. Janet M. Frangie Dept. S-29; Telephone: (909) 521-3467

PETITION FOR REVIEW

I. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Is a judgment automatically stayed pending appeal as a mandatory injunction where it commands a county board of supervisors to rescind its appointment of a sitting supervisor and prohibits the sitting supervisor from exercising her official duties?

II. INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeal's error in denying Appellants' Petition for Writ of Supersedeas gives immediate, irreparable, and damaging effect to the superior court's fundamentally flawed Judgment.

The mandamus proceeding in the superior court resulted in the Judgment and Peremptory Writ of Mandate commanding the San Bernardino Board of Supervisors (the "Board") to remove Supervisor Dawn Rowe from her position as Third District Supervisor. Mandate relief is improper here because an action to try title to public office may only be brought in a quo warranto action. No quo warranto action was sought or obtained.

California's long-standing rule that title to public office may only be tried in a quo warranto action is, in part, intended to ensure that a courtordered removal from office does as little as possible to disrupt the functioning of local government. Given the high stakes for a quo warranto proceeding, it may only be brought by or with the authorization of the Attorney General. And quo warranto comes with specific procedures: the judgment is self-executing, and it is therefore not stayed pending appeal. These statutory procedures provide certainty to the parties as to what will happen in the event a superior court orders removal of an officer under quo warranto.

But this case did not proceed in quo warranto or with the authorization of the Attorney General. Unlike in quo warranto, the superior court's finding that Supervisor Rowe's appointment was "null and void" was not self-executing; rather the court issued the Peremptory Writ commanding affirmative action by the Board to effect its Judgment which is automatically stayed while the appeal is pending.

The Court of Appeal erred in denying Appellants' Petition for Writ of Supersedeas, which Appellants are entitled to as a matter of right. The error gives immediate, irreparable, and damaging effect to the flawed Judgment, resulting in the eviction of Supervisor Rowe from her Board seat, declaring a retroactive vacancy, and usurping the Board's appointment authority by ordering the Board to immediately seat the Governor's appointee. Review by this Court is not only necessary to prevent the irrevocable harm in this case, but also to resolve this legal issue critical to all local governments in the state. Likewise, a temporary stay should issue

to maintain the status quo while this Court considers this Petition for Review.

Supreme Court review is necessary to resolve the issue – whether the Judgment was automatically stayed – because the Court of Appeal's decision created a split of authority by departing from the long-standing rule that injunctive relief altering the status quo is automatically stayed pending appeal. Moreover, absent a stay, enforcement of the Judgment could render the appeal moot by giving immediate effect to the mandate forcing Supervisor Rowe to vacate her seat. And, appellate review of the superior court's fundamental error is necessary to ensure that lower courts follow the statutorily-mandated strictures of quo warranto, an issue of great importance to local governments who rely on the clarity and certainty of quo warranto actions to ensure orderly operation of government. The uncertainty created by the Court of Appeal, combined with the chaos of competing claims to an office, can be prevented by this Court clarifying that such orders are subject to the automatic stay.

Appellants therefore request this Court grant review and issue a writ compelling the Court of Appeal to issue a corrective writ of supersedeas affirming the automatic stay of the Judgment and Peremptory Writ.

Additionally, because the superior court has set an order to show cause hearing and return on the Peremptory Writ for January 24, 2020, **the Board**

also requests an immediate stay by 5:00 p.m. on January 23, 2020, pending the outcome of this Petition for Review.

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A. The Parties

Petitioners here are the Board, Supervisors Robert A. Lovingood, Janice Rutherford, Curt Hagman, Josie Gonzales, and Dawn Rowe. The Board, along with Supervisors Lovingood, Rutherford, Hagman, and Gonzales, are respondents in the underlying writ proceeding. Supervisor Rowe is the Real Party in Interest in the underlying writ proceeding.

Respondents Michael Gomez Daly and Inland Empire United (collectively, "I.E. United") are the petitioners in the underlying writ proceeding.

B. San Bernardino County Board of Supervisors

The County of San Bernardino, the largest in the country, is a charter county and a political subdivision of the state of California. The County's legislative and governing body is the Board. The Board consists of five members, one from each of the five supervisorial districts in the County. The Board has regularly scheduled meetings in each month as set by action of the Board in the previous calendar year to address the County's business. (Petition for Writ of Supersedeas ("Petition") at ¶ 3.)

At those meetings the Board is also sitting as the Governing Board of the following: the Successor Agency to the County of San Bernardino

Redevelopment Agency; County Industrial Development Authority; InHome Supportive Services Public Authority; Inland Counties Emergency
Medical Agency; County Flood Control District; Board Governed County
Service Areas; Inland Empire Public Facilities Corporation; San Bernardino
County Financing Authority; San Bernardino County Fire Protection
District; Big Bear Valley and Bloomington Recreation and Park Districts.
An official act of the Board on behalf of any of those agencies can only be
performed in a regularly or specially convened meeting. (Petition at ¶ 3.)

The agenda for each regularly scheduled Board meeting is publicly posted at least 72 hours prior to each meeting as required under the Ralph M. Brown Act ("Brown Act"). The agendas typically include a host of official acts for the Board, including but not limited to developing and implementing the policies and legislative priorities of the County, approving budgetary expenditures for the numerous County departments and constituent agencies, overseeing labor negotiations and all pending and potential litigation, and conducting public hearings as required on issues related to taxation as well as various private development projects along with large public works projects. At least three Supervisors are required to form a quorum at a Board meeting, and a quorum is required for the Board to consider and vote on resolutions, ordinances, and all other legislative and administrative actions. A majority of all the members must concur on any act of the Board, though some actions – such as approval of changes to a

final budget, certain real estate transactions, and adopting emergency ordinances – require four affirmative votes. (Petition at \P 4.)

When a vacancy arises on the Board, the County Charter provides that it "will be filled by appointment by majority vote of the remaining members of the Board from amongst the qualified electors of the supervisorial district in which such vacancy exists." (Exh. 1 at p. 9, Art. 1, sec. 7.) In the event the Board does not make an appointment to fill the vacancy within this designated 30-day period, then the Governor of California makes the appointment. Notably, there is no mandated process for the Board's appointment in the Charter. (Petition at ¶ 5; see Exh. 1 at p. 9, Art. 1, sec. 7.)

In the November 6, 2018 General Election, then Third District Supervisor James Ramos was elected to the California State Assembly. On December 3, 2018, Ramos took the oath of office for the State Assembly, thereby creating a vacancy in the office of Third District Supervisor.

Pursuant to the County Charter, the Board had thirty (30) days to appoint a replacement to the Third District seat, i.e., by January 2, 2019. (Petition at ¶ 6.)

C. The Board Unanimously Appoints Dawn Rowe as Third District Supervisor Following Several Public Meetings and Hours of Public Discussion

Understanding that the County was faced with a highly expedited time frame to fill the vacancy which included the holiday season, the Board proactively established a process to handle filling the vacancy. The Charter does not call out a required specific process and leaves this determination to the Board in its sole discretion. (Petition at ¶ 7.)

On November 13, 2018, the Board convened a special meeting to set up a process for filling the impending vacancy and to set another special meeting for December 11, 2018, to interview applicants. (Petition at ¶ 8.)

At the next regularly scheduled Board meeting on December 4, 2018, the Clerk of the Board informed the Board of the unexpectedly large number of applicants and that fifty-two (52) individual applications had been received by the Clerk's office and forty-eight (48) applicants were eligible for consideration. Accordingly, the Board reconsidered the process in light of this vast applicant pool. The Board voted 3-1 to modify the selection process. (Petition at ¶ 9.)

Under the new process, the Clerk of the Board was directed to send a Supplemental Questionnaire to all 48 applicants and answers were due back to the Clerk's office by 12:00 noon on Friday, December 7, 2018. Those supplemental responses would be sent to the Board of Supervisors by 5:00

p.m. on Friday, December 7, 2019. Next, each Board member could individually submit up to ten names of applicants to the Clerk of the Board by Monday, December 10, 2018 at 10:00 a.m. and any applicant receiving at least two acknowledgements would then be interviewed. (Petition at ¶ 9.)

After reviewing questionnaires completed by forty-three (43) of the applicants, the Supervisors each individually notified the Clerk of the Board of the applicants that he or she wished to publicly interview. There were no discussions or deliberations. Thirteen applicants received two or more acknowledgements and were invited to the December 11, 2018 special Board meeting to be publicly interviewed. (Petition at ¶ 10.)

At the December 11, 2018 Board meeting, after public interviews of the thirteen applicants and a following public comment period, the Board unanimously identified five applicants for further public interviews at a special Board meeting to be held on December 13, 2018. (Petition at ¶ 11.)

On December 11, 2018, the Board received a letter from a citizen alleging that the process for selecting applicants for public interviews was a Brown Act violation. Ultimately, the Board did not take any action at the December 13, 2018 Board meeting. (Petition at ¶ 12.)

For the next regularly scheduled Board meeting on December 18, 2018, the Board noticed agenda items to:

- a. Rescind the appointment process;
- b. Rescind the December 10, 2018 establishment of an interview list of thirteen applicants;
 - c. Rescind the December 11, 2018 list of five finalists;
 - d. Adopt a new appointment process; and
 - e. Appoint a new Third District Supervisor. (Petition at ¶ 13.)

However, at about 6:30 a.m., before the December 18, 2018 Board meeting convened, I.E. United sent an email correspondence alleging a Brown Act violation in the Board's December 10, 2018 process of inviting applicants for public interview which had narrowed the applicant pool to a more manageable number. I.E. United specifically demanded that all applicants be interviewed as the only feasible cure for the alleged violation. (Petition at ¶ 14.)

The December 18, 2018 Board meeting convened at 9:00 a.m. At the meeting, the Board took several separate actions, including:

- a. Rescinding its prior public interview list of 13 applicants and the 5 publicly-selected finalists;
 - b. Rescinding the prior appointment procedure;
- c. Adopting a new process for filling the Third District vacant seat whereby each Supervisor would publicly submit up to three names to the Board Clerk from the entire list of forty-three (43) qualified applicants (five applicants did not return the Supplemental Questionnaire); and

d. Conducting an open session interview of the publicly-selected nominees: Chris Carrillo, Rhodes Rigsby, William Emmerson, Sean Flynn, William Jahn, and Dawn Rowe. (Petition at ¶¶ 15, 16.)

Mr. Carrillo had not been interviewed before. The Board heard public comments from twenty-one (21) individuals, both on site and remotely from its Joshua Tree location, for nearly two and one-half (2 ½) hours. After the public selection, public comments, and public applicant interviews, the Board publicly deliberated and voted unanimously to appoint Dawn Rowe as Third District Supervisor. Supervisor Rowe was sworn in on December 18, 2018 and has held the office of Third District Supervisor for the past year plus, capably performing all acts and duties incumbent in the office. (Petition at ¶ 16.)

On December 20, 2018, County Counsel sent written notice of the curative/corrective action to I.E. United, specifically detailing the new process that the Board had adopted on December 18, 2019, pursuant to Government Code § 54960.1(c)(2). I.E. United did not at any time provide a notice to cure any alleged Brown Act violation related to the Board's rescission and new actions taken at its December 18, 2018 Board meeting. Absent further notice of an alleged Brown Act violation due to the actions taken on December 18, 2018, the Board was deprived of any opportunity to take further curative action, which it could have done through January 2, 2019. (Petition at ¶ 17.)

D. I.E. United Files Its Petition For Writ of Mandate

On December 31, 2018, I.E. United filed a Verified Petition for Writ of Mandate, challenging the Board's unanimous appointment of Supervisor Rowe on the basis that an early step in the process of inviting applicants to be publicly interviewed allegedly violated the Brown Act and thereby irretrievably tainted the entire lengthy public process that followed.

(Petition at ¶ 18; Exh. 2.)

On February 11, 2019, Appellants demurred to the Petition for Writ of Mandate on the basis that quo warranto is the exclusive means to challenge the right to hold office and I.E. United had failed to meet the requirements for a quo warranto action. (Petition at ¶ 20; see Exhs. 3 and 4 at pp. 96–100.)

On March 27, 2019, the superior court overruled the demurrer in part, and rejected Appellants' legal argument that quo warranto is the exclusive remedy. (Petition at ¶ 21; Exh. 8 at p. 152.)

On April 8, 2019, I.E. United filed its First Amended Petition for Writ of Mandate. (Exh. 9.) I.E. United prayed for the superior court to "order [the Board], and each of them, to rescind to appointment of Dawn Rowe as Third District Member of the San Bernardino County Board of Supervisors." (Petition at ¶ 22; Exh. 9 at p. 169, ¶ 70.)

After several rounds of briefing and oral argument, the superior court entered a minute order and Statement of Decision on September 18,

2019, granting I.E. United's Petition for Writ of Mandate. (Exhs. 11, 12.)

The relief ordered by the superior court was, in its entirety:

- a. The process by which Dawn Rowe was selected to the San Bernardino County Board of Supervisors violated the Ralph M Brown Act;
- b. Respondents failed to cure and correct their violations of the Brown Act;
- c. The appointment of Dawn Rowe as Third District Supervisor is null and void. Respondents and each of them shall rescind the appointment of Dawn Rowe as Third District Supervisor. Pursuant to Board's Charter the appointment of the Third District Supervisor shall be made by the Governor; and
- d. Petitioners are entitled to reasonable attorney's fees and costs.

(Petition at ¶ 23; Exh. 12 at p. 317.)

The superior court also directed I.E. United to prepare a judgment consistent with the statement of decision. (Petition at ¶ 24; Exh. 12 at p. 317.)

- I.E. United submitted a Proposed Judgment and Proposed Writ of Mandate on September 27, 2019. (Exhs. 13, 14.) The Proposed Judgment included additional relief incidental to the mandatory relief ordered in the Statement of Decision. Specifically, the Proposed Judgment included that a "peremptory writ of mandate shall issue from the Court":
 - a. [C]ommanding Respondents immediately to rescind the appointment of Rowe as Third District Supervisor;
 - b. [P]rohibiting Respondents from allowing Rowe to participate in an official capacity in any meetings or Board

actions, and from registering or otherwise giving effect to any further votes case by Rowe;

- c. [P]rohibiting Respondents from making any appointment to the position of Third District Supervisor of the San Bernardino Board of Supervisors; and
- d. [C]ommanding Respondents to immediately seat any person duly appointed to the position of Third District Supervisor by the Governor.

(Petition at ¶ 26; Exh. 13.)

On October 9, 2019, Appellants filed objections to the Proposed Judgment. (Exh. 15.) On October 15, 2019, Supervisor Rowe filed supplemental objections to the Proposed Judgment. (Exh. 17.) Among other things, Appellants argued that enforcement of the Statement of Decision and Minute Order were automatically stayed pending the outcome of the appeal, because they constituted an order granting a mandatory injunction. (Petition at ¶ 27; Exh. 15 at p. 337.)

On October 22, 2019, I.E. United filed its responses to the objections, arguing that an appeal "would not stay the prohibitory relief ordered by this Court: the order prohibiting the Board from continuing to give force and effect to Rowe's nullified appointment, and prohibiting the Board from attempting a new appointment." (Exh. 18 at p. 368.) As well, I.E. United argued that the entirety of the relief was prohibitory in nature because it merely ordered Appellants not to continue to violate the law. (Petition at ¶ 29; Exh. 18 at p. 368.)

On November 8, 2019, the superior court overruled Appellants' objections, but acknowledged that all relief flowed from its decision to order the Board to rescind Supervisor Rowe's unanimous appointment.

(Petition at ¶ 31; see Exh. 21 at p. 398.) The order did not directly address the issue of whether any of the relief identified in the Statement of Decision was prohibitory or mandatory in effect. (Exh. 21.)

On November 8, 2019, the superior court signed and entered the Proposed Judgment submitted by I.E. United without changes. (Exh. 22.) The superior court also signed and entered the Peremptory Writ of Mandate in the form proposed by I.E. United without changes. (Exh. 23.) On November 13, 2019, Appellants filed an Amended Notice of Appeal from the Judgment. (Exh. 24.)

On November 21, 2019, Appellants appeared ex parte in the superior court seeking to vacate the hearing on the order to show cause and to confirm that enforcement of the Judgment and Peremptory Writ was automatically stayed pending resolution of the appeal. (Petition at ¶ 34; Exhs. 25, 26, 27.) I.E. United opposed the ex parte application, contending that there was no automatic stay because the relief amounted to a prohibitory injunction. (Petition at ¶ 35; Exhs. 32, 33.) The superior court denied Appellants' ex parte application, ruling that portions of the Judgment were prohibitory and therefore not automatically stayed by the appeal.

Appellants immediately filed a petition for writ of supersedeas on November 21, 2019, seeking an immediate temporary stay and issuance of a writ of supersedeas affirming that the Judgment was automatically stayed in its entirety. On November 25, 2019, I.E. United filed a Preliminary Opposition to Request for Immediate Stay and Petition for Writ of Supersedeas ("Opposition"). On November 26, 2019, the Court of Appeal granted the immediate temporary stay and invited Appellants to file a reply to the Opposition. On December 6, 2019, Appellants filed their Reply. On January 8, 2020, the Court of Appeal issued an order summarily denying the petition for writ of supersedeas and dissolving the stay. A true and correct copy of the Order is attached hereto as Exhibit A.

E. Need For An Immediate Temporary Stay

This petition requests an immediate temporary stay pursuant to Rule 8.112(c)(1) of the California Rules of Court pending a ruling on this petition. On January 28, 2020, the Board will hold its next regularly scheduled meeting. Absent an immediate temporary stay, there will be confusion about who, if anybody, occupies the Third District Supervisor seat at that meeting (and beyond).

Additionally, the Board's ability to function in the event two members are absent, or to address any emergencies that may arise, would be impeded if the seat is made effectively vacant. The Board must adopt emergency declarations or ratifications in order to permit emergency

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