Case No. S260209

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

---

**MICHAEL GOMEZ DALY and INLAND EMPIRE UNITED,**  
*Petitioners and Respondents,*

v.

**BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY;**  
**ROBERT A. LOVINGOOD; JANICE RUTHERFORD;**  
**CURT HAGMAN; and JOSIE GONZALES,**  
*Respondents and Appellants,*

**DAWN ROWE,**  
*Real Party in Interest and Appellant.*

---

After an Order by the Court of Appeal of the State of California,  
Fourth Appellate District, Division Two  
Case No. E073730

Appeal from the Superior Court of the State of California,  
County of San Bernardino, Department 29, Honorable Janet M. Frangie  
Case No. CIVDS1833846

---

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. Appellants' request for an immediate temporary stay should be denied.**

Appellants seek a temporary stay by January 23, 2020, for the ostensible purposes of avoiding “confusion about who, if anybody, occupies the Third District Supervisor seat at [the Board’s January 28, 2020] meeting (and beyond); ensuring the Board is not “short-handed and adversely impacted for the entirety of the appeal”; preventing the Governor from appointing someone to the Third District Supervisor seat (as the County Charter expressly allows); and “avoid[ing] confusion prior to the [superior court’s] January 24, 2020 hearing” regarding Appellants’ compliance with its prior rulings. (Petn., pp. 20-22.)

However, there is no reason for any confusion about whether Rowe continues to serve as Third District Supervisor—she does not. Appellants fail to justify any need for an immediate temporary stay before this Court has the opportunity to consider their petition for review and Respondents’ answer. Moreover, Appellants fail to acknowledge that the March 3, 2020 election for the next Third District Supervisor term is rapidly approaching, and that Rowe has already sought to leverage the Board’s unlawful appointment by declaring her candidacy as the incumbent Supervisor. Because allowing Appellants to capitalize on the Board’s violations of the Act runs counter to the Act’s purposes and specific statutory remedy and would undermine the effectiveness of the relief the superior court ordered, and because Appellants have otherwise failed to present adequate grounds for a stay, Appellants’ request should be rejected.

#### **A. Appellants fail to state adequate grounds for an immediate temporary stay.**

Appellants urge a stay “to avoid confusion prior to the [superior court’s] January 24, 2020 hearing on the Order[s] to Show Cause”

regarding compliance and contempt and “about who, if anybody, occupies the Third District Supervisor seat at [the Board’s January 28, 2020] meeting (and beyond).” (Petn., pp. 20-22.) But the only possible confusion here would be of Appellants’ own making. The superior court has unequivocally held Rowe’s appointment to be null and void and prohibited Rowe from continuing to act as Supervisor pending further proceedings in the Court of Appeal, which has declined to stay the superior court’s judgment while it considers Appellants’ appeal. Appellants’ disagreement with these rulings does not establish uncertainty.

Nor is a stay justified by Appellants’ assertion that “the Board’s ability to function in the event two members are absent, or to address any emergencies that may arise, would be impeded if the Third District Supervisor seat is made effectively vacant.” (Petn., p. 20.) Any harm caused by a vacancy on the Board can easily be remedied by the Governor’s appointment of a replacement pursuant to the County’s charter. (Supersedeas Exhs., Vol. I, Exh. 1, p. 14.) Moreover, Appellants identify no specific actions requiring four votes, point to no evidence regarding the likelihood of such actions arising, and concede that there can still be a quorum for such actions even if the Third District Supervisor seat remains vacant.

Finally, in light of the superior court’s determination that Rowe’s appointment was null and void, the fact that Ramos vacated the Third District Supervisor seat over a year ago, and the County Charter provision authorizing the Governor to fill vacancies on the Board unless an appointment occurs within 30 days, Appellants’ claim that an immediate stay is required because “a new appointment may be prematurely made to the Third District Supervisor seat by the Governor” also fails. (Petn., p. 21.) And any claim of “competing claims to the seat … if Appellants’ appeal succeeds” (*ibid.*) is speculative and unlikely given the Court of

Appeal’s determination that Appellants failed even to “facially demonstrate[] the merits of the issues they present[ed]” in their supersedeas petition (Order, p. 2).

**B. An immediate temporary stay would irreparably frustrate the relief ordered by the superior court, the purposes of the Brown Act, and the remedy set forth therein.**

As noted, the election to fill the Third District Supervisor seat for the next full term will take place on March 3, 2020.<sup>3</sup> (Supersedeas Exhs., Vol. II, Exh. 33, pp. 563, 570.) Despite the superior court’s judgment, Rowe has identified herself for purposes of that election as the incumbent “San Bernardino County Supervisor.” (*Id.* at p. 579.)

Although Appellants premise their request for an immediate temporary stay on the pending January 24, 2020 show cause hearing and January 28, 2020 Board meeting, granting their request will allow Appellants to further capitalize on the Board’s unlawful appointment by enabling Rowe to continue to represent to the public that she presently serves as Third District Supervisor. But rewarding Appellants in this way would run directly contrary to the Brown Act’s purposes and its nullification remedy: The Act is intended “to facilitate public participation in all phases of local government decisionmaking and to curb misuse of the democratic process by secret legislation of public bodies.” (*International Longshoremen’s and Warehousemen’s Union v. Los Angeles Export Terminal, Inc.* (1999) 69 Cal.App.4th 287, 293.) Although before 1986 “action taken at a meeting in violation of the … Act [remained] nonetheless valid” (e.g., Legis. Counsel’s Dig., Assem. Bill No. 2674 (1985-1986 Reg. Sess.) as amended June 4, 1986, p. 2), the Legislature amended the Act to

---

<sup>3</sup> The Board unlawfully appointed Rowe to fill the remainder of the *current* Third District Supervisorial term, which ends on December 7, 2020. (Supersedeas Exhs., Vol. II, Exh. 33, p. 563.)

“render these actions null and void, thus putting ‘teeth’ into the Brown Act” and preventing local legislative bodies from “skirt[ing] the spirit and letter of the law” (e.g., Sen. Rules Com., Off. of Sen. Floor Analyses, 3d reading analysis of Assem. Bill No. 2674 (1985-1986 Reg. Sess.) as amended June 4, 1986, p. 4). Because granting an immediate temporary stay would allow the Board to skirt the spirit and letter of the law, the Court should deny Appellants’ request.

In sum, Appellants fail to present any reason why the Court must grant an immediate stay rather than decide the petition for review in due course.

## **II. Appellants’ petition for review should also be denied.**

As noted, Appellants present a single issue for review: whether the superior court’s judgment is automatically stayed pending appeal.<sup>4</sup> But

---

<sup>4</sup> Appellants’ and CSAC’s quo warranto arguments are irrelevant. Appellants do not raise quo warranto as an issue presented for review. Moreover, that issue was not addressed by the Court of Appeal’s Order and is therefore not before this Court (see Order, p. 1 “[W]e do not here determine the merits of the appeal ....”]).

In any event, Appellants and CSAC are mistaken about quo warranto’s purported exclusivity. Although neither Appellants nor CSAC dispute that the Brown Act applied to the Board’s appointment of Rowe, they apparently contend that the express remedy established by the Legislature for violations of the Act is foreclosed. But as CSAC itself notes, quo warranto provides the exclusive remedy *only* “ ‘[i]n the absence of constitutional or statutory regulations providing otherwise.’ ” (CSAC Brief, p. 7, quoting *San Ysidro Irrigation District v. Superior Court of San Diego County* (1961) 56 Cal.2d 708, 714-715). Here, the Act expressly authorized Respondents to “commence an action by mandamus or injunction for the purpose of obtaining a judicial determination that an action taken by a legislative body of a local agency in violation of [the Act] is null and void.” (§ 54960.1, subd. (a)). As in cases involving statutory remedies under the Elections Code (see, e.g., *Salazar v. City of Montebello* (1987) 190 Cal.App.3d 953, 957; *Powers v. Hitchcock* (1900)

their arguments are premised on a fundamental misunderstanding of the law regarding prohibitory injunctions. The Court of Appeal’s Order correctly applied the law, created no split of authority, and does not otherwise meet the Court’s criteria for review.

**A. The trial court’s order is prohibitory, not mandatory.**

Appellants focus on two of the judgment’s provisions: the requirements that the appointment be rescinded and that the Board seat whomever the Governor appoints (as the law requires). But Appellants’ argument that the entire injunction must be stayed ignores *both* the rule that the prohibitory aspects of a mixed injunction are *not* stayed pending appeal *and* clear precedent that for purposes of determining whether an injunctive provision is mandatory—in that it requires a change to the status quo—the “status quo” is the *last uncontested state* preceding the parties’ dispute. Although Respondents made these points below, Appellants fail to address them here, because they are fatal to Appellants’ petition.

---

129 Cal. 325, 326-327), the availability of quo warranto relief does not foreclose available statutory remedies.

Moreover, as the superior court correctly found, “[a]lthough the ultimate effect may result in Rowe[’]s removal [from] the Third District Supervisor Seat[,] [t]his is not an action against Dawn Rowe for unlawfully holding or usurping public office.” (Supersedeas Exhs., Vol. I, Exh. 8, p. 153.) Rather, this is an action against the *Board* for failing to comply with the Act in appointing Rowe. And it is well established that “[t]itle to office may be *incidentally* determined in mandamus [citations], and discretion rests with the court to determine whether the title should be so determined.” (*Stout v. Democratic County Central Committee of City and County of San Francisco* (1952) 40 Cal.2d 91, 94, emphasis added.) Indeed, this Court long ago rejected “the proposition that the title to an office cannot be tried—that is, inquired into—when it is incidentally involved in a [mandamus] proceeding which a third party has a right to institute.” (*McKannay v. Horton* (1907) 151 Cal. 711, 715.)

**1. The injunctive provisions at issue here are prohibitory in that they neither require any affirmative acts nor modify the status quo.**

“An injunction is prohibitory which merely has the effect of preserving the subject of the litigation in statu quo ....” (*Johnston v. Superior Court In & For Los Angeles County* (1957) 148 Cal.App.2d 966, 970.) An injunction is mandatory, by contrast, where it *both* “requires affirmative action *and* changes the status quo.” (*Hayworth v. City of Oakland* (1982) 129 Cal.App.3d 723, 728 (*Hayworth*), emphasis added.) Appellants acknowledge these principles but misunderstand how the status quo is defined, and therefore operate from the mistaken presumption that the status quo is Rowe’s appointment to the Third District Supervisor position. In fact, the status quo is defined as ““the last actual peaceable, uncontested status which preceded the pending controversy.”” (*People v. Hill* (1977) 66 Cal.App.3d 320, 331.) Here, the last actual peaceable, *uncontested* status—indeed, the status when Respondents first alerted the Board to its Brown Act violation—was a vacancy in the Third District Supervisor position.

As explained in *United Railroads of San Francisco v. Superior Court In and For City and County of San Francisco* (1916) 172 Cal. 80, 87 (*United Railroads*), “[t]here is no magic in the phrase ‘maintaining the status quo’ which transforms an injunction essentially prohibitive into an injunction essentially mandatory.” The *United Railroads* plaintiff successfully sought to enjoin San Francisco from using railcars on a portion of its tracks and related infrastructure in excess of the number provided for in the parties’ contract. San Francisco argued on appeal that because it had “for several months” been operating excessive numbers of railcars under of claim of right without having been prevented from doing so, it “was in legal possession of the interest claimed and, consequently, the injunction, though

prohibitory in form, requiring it merely to cease operating such cars, is, in effect, an order directing the city to relinquish its possession of the incorporeal hereditament and, therefore, mandatory in character.” (*Id.* at p. 86.) The Supreme Court disagreed, explaining that “the phrase [status quo] has been defined to mean ‘the last actual peaceable, uncontested status which preceded the pending controversy[,]’” and that “[t]here was no such uncontested possession” because “petitioner [had] protested before beginning its action, protested vigorously against the misuse of its property, and only brought its action when its protests were disregarded.” (*Ibid.*) Though the defendant’s wrongful use of the contested lines existed when the case was filed and the injunction entered, that did not alter the status quo: “It is not easy to perceive what more the plaintiff should have done in the assertion and maintenance of its rights. Nor, upon the other hand, can it be perceived how the conduct of the city officials conferred upon the city any new rights.” (*Ibid.*)

The same is true here. Respondents “protested before beginning [their] action” by sending a letter on December 18 (prior to Rowe’s appointment) alerting the Board to its Brown Act violation, and “only brought [their] action when [their] protests were disregarded.” (*United Railroads, supra*, 172 Cal. at p. 86; compare Supersedeas Exhs., Vol. I, Exh. 9.) Moreover, just as with the city’s ongoing use of the contested railroad lines, Rowe’s appointment did not create any new rights—rather, as the trial court below held, it was null from the outset. Rowe *never* held the position of Supervisor “uncontested.”

Although relating to quo warranto rather than a Brown Act action, *People ex rel. Boarts v. City of Westmoreland* (1933) 135 Cal.App. 517

(*Westmoreland*), is similarly on point.<sup>5</sup> There, the trial court issued an order declaring that a city had never legally come into existence; the accompanying injunction was held by the Court of Appeal to be “essentially negative in character.” (*Id.* at p. 521.) Echoing arguments Appellants here make, the *Westmoreland* petitioner sought to stay the judgment pending appeal, arguing that, although couched in prohibitory language, the judgment was mandatory in substance because it “change[d] the status which was enjoyed by petitioner at the time the judgment was rendered” and “disturb[ed] the relative position or rights of the parties.” (*Id.* at p. 520.) The court disagreed, holding that because the superior court held that the petitioner “had never legally come into existence,” “its legal status subsequent to that time [of alleged incorporation] has not been changed by the judgment.” (*Id.* at p. 521.) Because it had never “been established that [the city] ever enjoyed the status of a legally constituted municipality,” the trial court’s order requiring the city to wind up its affairs (which entailed incidental affirmative action) did not alter the status quo and was thus prohibitory in nature. (*Id.* at pp. 520-521.) Here, too, because Rowe never lawfully held the seat, the injunction forbidding her from voting and participating in Board affairs was prohibitory, not mandatory.

CSAC incorrectly argues that the rule that the status quo is measured from “ ‘the last actual peaceable, uncontested status which preceded the pending controversy’ ” (*Hill, supra*, 66 Cal.App.3d at p. 331) applies only to injunctions *pendent lite* (CSAC Brief, pp. 17-18). But the only authority amicus contends supports this proposition does not so hold. *URS Corp. v. Atkinson/Walsh Joint Venture* (2017) 15 Cal.App.5th 872 (*URS*) addressed

---

<sup>5</sup> As discussed *infra*, nothing in *Westmoreland* suggests that its holding is inapplicable to an order under § 54960.1 that an action is “null and void.”

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